# POLICY BRIEF SERIES September 2022



MENTAL HEALTH AND SUICIDE DURING THE PANDEMIC: SWEDEN

### **ABSTRACT**

This policy brief presents the Swedish results of the survey 'Suicide in Europe', conducted by Ifop for Fondation Jean-Jaurès and FEPS, analysing the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health and suicide.

Despite Swedish society remaining open to a larger extent than its neighbouring countries, according to the survey nearly 40% of the population felt more depressed after the onset of the pandemic. While the suicide rate has decreased overall in the country in Sweden in the last 25 years, there is a significant increase among youth. Young people, women and those with low income or low qualifications are those at greatest risk of suicidal thoughts. The survey shows there are strong links between mental ill-health and socio-economic factors such as unemployment, or low level of income. Moreover, while Sweden is a country associated with a strong welfare system, increasing privatisation is creating health inequalities that may act as a barrier to mental healthcare for vulnerable groups.

To tackle these challenges, we recommend: undertaking systematic suicide prevention work in all municipalities and schools; building the knowledge and capacity for suicide prevention among staff in contact-oriented professions; ensuring collaboration and information transfer among different social and health services to provide a more holistic, multi-sectoral approach to mental health support that addresses various socio-economic risk factors; and investing in greater research to cover data and knowledge gaps.



# **AUTHOR**

MIA LAURÉN
Writer and communications
strategist at Arenagruppen,
Stockholm

### IN PARTNERSHIP WITH



### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

About this series	3
Introduction	4
Mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic	4
The impact of employment situation on mental health	5
Access to support and treatment	6
Recommendations for suicide prevention	7
Endnotes	8
References	9
About the author	11
Also in this series	12





# THE FOUNDATION FOR EUROPEAN PROGRESSIVE STUDIES (FEPS)

European Political Foundation - N° 4 BE 896.230.213 Avenue des Arts 46 1000 Brussels (Belgium) www.feps-europe.eu @FEPS\_Europe



### **FONDATION JEAN JAURÈS**

12 Cité Malesherbes, 75009 Paris France www.jean-jaures.org @j\_jaures



This Policy Brief was produced with the financial support of the European Parliament. It does not represent the view of the European Parliament.

### **ABOUT THIS SERIES**

The COVID-19 pandemic has had an unprecedented impact on our societies, disrupting all aspects of our lives. At the height of the crisis, the effects of COVID-19 on physical health necessarily took centre stage. But over two years on, the severe consequences of COVID-19 on mental health are continuing to reveal themselves and require a strong response to reduce suffering and preventable deaths. Given the growing level of need, it is no wonder that there have been calls by the European Parliament to name 2023 the European Year of Mental Health as well as a push for the development of a European Mental Health Strategy.

In this series, FEPS and Fondation Jean-Jaurès sought to explore how the pandemic and its social and economic effects impacted mental health and suicide in Europe. Surveys were conducted in six European countries – Germany, France, Ireland, Poland, Spain and Sweden – by Ifop in May 2022. Samples consisted of 1,000 people from each country, representative of the population aged 18 and above. Each policy brief explores the results in one of the countries surveyed. The briefs seek to highlight the level of mental health impact and need during and since the pandemic, to identify vulnerable groups, and highlight contributing factors. Based on the findings, we provide a set of recommendations for governments to improve mental healthcare and strengthen suicide prevention.

It is important to note that the mental health consequences of the pandemic may be more long term, and further monitoring will be needed in the years to come. Moreover, it is crucial to highlight that mental healthcare needs may grow in the coming months as the growing cost-of-living crisis, the high amount of climate-related events over the summer of 2022, and the war in Ukraine create further stress and anxiety in the daily lives of Europeans. With this in mind, this series can serve as a basis for preparing mental healthcare systems for new and emerging needs.

### Introduction

Sweden is ranked number 7 in the UN Happiness Report.<sup>1</sup> Although most Swedes consider themselves to have good mental well-being, mental health issues<sup>2</sup> are a growing problem, especially in younger age groups.

At the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in the spring of 2020, the death rate in Sweden was among the highest in Europe. Despite this, Swedish society remained open to a larger extent than its neighbouring countries; there was no formal lockdown, but there were recommendations from the authorities. Primary and pre-schools, as well as restaurants, cafés and shops, were in general kept open, with some restrictions. Still, isolation, worry and stress imposed by the fear of infection and the uncertain future were a reality for a large part of the population, which had an impact on their mental health.

Sweden is a country associated with a well-functioning welfare system, although inequalities in society are rising. During the last decades, neo-liberal policies of marketisation and privatisation have reshaped the public sector, and massive tax cuts have contributed to increasing inequalities of income. As a result, health inequalities have grown too. Today, the difference in life expectancy is six years between those with a low or high level of education.<sup>3</sup> There is also a strong link between inequality, income, level of education and mental health issues.

In this context, how did the COVID-19 pandemic impact mental health and the risk of suicide in Sweden? In May 2022, Ifop on behalf of FEPS and Fondation Jean-Jaurès (FJJ) surveyed 1,000 respondents respectively in six countries: Sweden, Ireland, Poland, France, Spain and Germany. The study shows the differences

between the status of depression and suicides in the different countries relating to the pandemic, including data on age, gender, level of income and level of education.

This policy brief examines the development of suicidal thoughts in Sweden during and after the COVID-19 pandemic, and the links to socioeconomic factors, as well as national response and recommendations for Sweden.

# Mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic

87% of Swedes consider themselves to have good mental well-being.<sup>4</sup> Nevertheless, Sweden also faces challenges, with a growing part of the population experiencing mental health issues such as anxiety, depression, worry and distress. It is rising in several groups in society, and is more frequent amongst women and younger age groups.<sup>5</sup> The total societal cost of psychiatric conditions was estimated to be SEK 170 billion in 2021. Sick leave due to psychiatric conditions has risen from 31% in 2010 to 46% in 2021.<sup>6</sup>

Experiences of severe anxiety and distress are more common amongst those with a low income, who also face an increased risk of suffering from long-term mental illness and committing suicide. This was a phenomenon replicated during the pandemic. The Swedish 'Corona Commission', appointed by the government, stated in its final report in February 2022 that the pandemic had an unequal impact on different groups in Swedish society and that the pandemic has intensified already existing inequalities. The report notes that, 'to a large extent, groups that were already disadvantaged have been hardest hit by COVID-19 in terms of severe illness and death.'

Risk factors for developing depression, such as unemployment and financial insecurity, increased during the pandemic. The population had a reduced opportunity to access positive measures for mental well-being, such as social connection. The fear of the infection together with deaths and social distancing also had an impact.<sup>8</sup>

According to the survey carried out by FEPS and FJJ, 38% of the Swedes feel more depressed since the onset of the pandemic, especially women, young women under 35 years old, and people who earn less than €1,500 monthly, and those who suffer from stress and burnout. OECD *Health at a Glance 2021* reports a similar development. According to the study, prevalence of depression or symptoms of depression amongst adults in Sweden rose from 10.8% before the pandemic, up to 30% in 2020.9

In the last 25 years, the suicide rate has decreased in Sweden, although the decrease has been slower in recent years. More than 1,100 people died as a result of suicide in Sweden in 2020. According to preliminary data, 1,226 individuals took their lives in 2021. Men committed two thirds of all suicides in 2020. Even if men commit suicide to a larger extent, women more commonly make suicide attempts. Although the suicide rate is decreasing in the population as a whole, since 1997 it has been increasing in younger age groups between 15 and 29 years old. 11

According to the Karolinska Institute in Sweden, there is a risk that suicide rates could increase after the pandemic. The risks are linked to the social and health-related aspects of the COVID-19 outbreak. Research has shown that it is not unusual for a society with falling suicide rates to have increased risks in the years that follow a crisis.<sup>12</sup>

In the survey, 25% of the respondents said they had seriously considered suicide. More women than men had considered taking their lives. 43% were less than 35 years old. 30% of those who had suicidal thoughts had a low level of education, in comparison with those with a high level of education (16%). 39% had an income of less than €1,500 a month, in comparison with 19% for those who earn more than €3,000 a month.

82% of the respondents stated that their suicide attempt was before the pandemic. 29% answered it was during lockdowns or since September 2021 respectively. 26% of the respondents of the survey answered that someone they know had attempted suicide. That is above all other countries in the study (20–23%), except for Ireland where 48% responded 'yes'. A relative's suicide can have a large negative impact on a person's life and well-being, and also increase the risk of the person committing suicide themselves.

# The impact of employment situation on mental health

The pandemic had a more negative impact on mental health amongst those who were unemployed or living with socio-economic vulnerability.13 While Sweden had fewer unemployed during the pandemic than in the other countries in the study, the unemployment rate in Sweden during the pandemic rose to 8.8% in 2021.14 Overall, 17% of Swedish respondents said that they had been unemployed at some point during the last two years, in comparison with Spain and Ireland (32%). Unemployment was much more common amongst those who earned less than €1,500 monthly. It was also far more common amongst those who had felt more depressed since the beginning of the pandemic (26% vs 11%), and people who took psychotropic drugs or who had a suicide attempt in the family.

Moreover, 33% of the working Swedes in the survey had experienced or felt significant stress, burnout, bullying or sexual harassment during the last two years, with an overrepresentation of women. In comparison, 63% in Ireland had one of these experiences and 55% in Spain and Poland. It was more common amongst those who had felt more depressed since COVID-19 (34% vs 12%). Fewer Swedes had mainly teleworked during the pandemic in comparison with most of the other countries in the study.

### Access to support and treatment

To prevent suicide, it is essential to treat and address the underlying reasons for suicidal thoughts. A large responsibility lies with psychiatric healthcare. However, mental illness is a complex phenomenon and healthcare cannot alone treat patients suffering from loneliness, unemployment or low income – all risk factors for developing mental disorders and suicidal thoughts.

All residents in Sweden have automatic access to publicly funded healthcare and the system is 85% tax-funded. 14% is funded out of pocket and 1% out of private health insurance. Sweden's healthcare system is a regional responsibility, and it is governed by the 21 regions.15 According to the OECD (2019), the Swedish health system is well-performing, with the third-highest cost per capita in the EU. But the system faces challenges, not least when it comes to accessibility, waiting times and equality. The privatisation of the healthcare sector has increased at a fast rate since 2010, mainly in the primary care sector. On a broader scale, there has also been an implementation of new public management approaches within the health sector.

According to several opinion polls, healthcare is the most important political issue for Swedes in the parliamentary, region and municipality elections in September 2022.<sup>16</sup>

Data from FEPS/FJJ shows that Swedes were consulting a healthcare professional to a much lesser extent than in the other European countries in the study during the last two years. Only 65% of the respondents saw a general practitioner, in comparison with France, Germany, Poland and Ireland where all responses were over 87%. However, Swedes saw a psychiatrist or psychologist to almost the same extent as in the other countries of comparison. Women saw a psychiatrist or psychologist more often than men. People with a low level of income consulted a psychiatrist or psychologist more often than groups with a higher income, according to the survey.

Getting treatment from a psychiatrist is supposed to be available through a general practitioner (in Sweden, your healthcare centre, *vårdcentral*), although the queues are long to see a specialist in psychiatry or a psychologist and leave many behind. There is a healthcare guarantee (*vårdgaranti*) ensuring all patients get care within 90 days. Within psychiatry for children and young people (*BUP*) it is 30 days, although few regions fulfil that guarantee.<sup>17</sup>

The number of healthcare centres along with private care providers offering tele- and video meetings in psychiatric care increased, from 14% in 2019 to 29% in 2021.<sup>18</sup>

Although therapy is the recommended treatment for depression (together with antidepressants), many are left only with a prescription. Untreated conditions of depression or anxiety syndrome can also increase the risk of suicide. More than 1,100,000 Swedes were prescribed antidepressants during 2021, which is 10% of the population. On the population.

There is often a lack of co-ordination in psychiatric care, especially when it comes to youth in need of care from several different stakeholders and units. The consequences are several, such as care providers making the wrong decision for the patient, not based on the whole spectrum of needs.<sup>21</sup>

# Recommendations for suicide prevention

SKR, the Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions, has launched the initiative 'Joint Action for Mental Health Sweden', with the aim to gather different stakeholders for long-term development work to strengthen mental health.<sup>22</sup> Mental health usually has a hidden role in healthcare. A third of all visits to a healthcare centre are related to mental health issues, although the healthcare centres have far from the resources and competence to meet those needs. An official inquiry of the Swedish Government proposes that the legal text should be changed so that it explicitly includes mental health along with physical health in primary care.<sup>23</sup>

However, suicide is a public health concern, and suicide prevention demands a multi-sectoral approach, involving healthcare professionals as well as representatives from other sectors. Crucial actors are professionals such as teachers, social workers and the police, as well as families, neighbours, classmates and work colleagues.

When it comes to the healthcare sector, it is essential that people who suffer from mental health problems such as depression, bipolarity and schizophrenia have access to an uninterrupted care chain. In the case of young people, this care chain must include everyone in the young individual's everyday life, be it at school, at free-time activities or at home.

Arena Idé, a progressive think tank funded by the trade union movement, has in a number of reports highlighted how privatisation leads to increased fragmentation of healthcare,24 and how this is particularly problematic when it comes to dealing with mental health. A comprehensive care chain would include the healthcare team at the school, the general practitioner, and - if necessary - a specialised professional such as a child psychiatrist or a psychologist. Inpatient care at a hospital should be the last resort. In the current Swedish healthcare system, publicly funded care is delivered by a number of private. for-profit providers, each of whom has little interest in contribution to other parts of the care chain. The Stockholm Region, for instance, has signed over 4,000 contracts with private providers.

According to the mental health charity Mind, there is a need for a more proactive policy based on human basic needs, providing everyone with the conditions for mental well-being. They have also emphasised the link between poverty and mental health conditions.<sup>25</sup>

In this context we suggest the following actions for suicide prevention:

- Undertaking systematic suicide prevention work in all municipalities and schools.
- Building the knowledge and capacity for suicide prevention among staff in contactoriented professions.
- Ensuring collaboration and information transfer among different services to provide a more holistic, multisectoral approach to mental health support that addresses various socio-economic risk factors.
- Investing in greater research to cover data and knowledge gaps.

#### **Endnotes**

- 1 John F. Helliwell, Richard Layard, Jeffrey Sachs, and Jan-Emmanuel De Neve (eds). 2021. "World Happiness Report 2021". New York: Sustainable Development Solutions Network.
- 2 The term 'mental health issues' is used in this brief as an equivalent to the Swedish term 'psykisk ohälsa'. In Sweden the term includes both mental ill-health (psykiska problem) and mental disorder (psykiatriskt tillstånd).
- 3 Olle Lundberg. 2021. "The next step towards more equity in health in Sweden: how can we close the gap in a generation?" *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1403494818765702
- 4 Mind. 2021. "Hur mår vi psykiskt egentligen? Minds temperaturmätning över den psykiska hälsan i Sverige 2021". https://mind.se/wp-content/uploads/pdf-for-nedladdning-1.pdf
- 5 Socialstyrelsen. 15 May 2019. "Långvarig psykisk ohälsa en utmaning för vården". https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/om-socialstyrelsen/pressrum/press/langvarig-psykisk-ohalsa-en-utmaning-for-varden
- 6 Mind. 2021. "Hur mår vi psykiskt egentligen?"
- 7 SOU. 2022:10, p. 2. https://coronakommissionen.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/summary\_20220225.pdf
- 8 OECD, Health at a Glance 2021, p. 56. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/ae3016b9-enpdf?expires=1655047 194&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=88ECE06D9C93F42F193EB950FF8413C4
- 9 Ibid
- 10 Socialstyrelsen. 22 June 2022. "Covid-19 femte vanligaste dödsorsaken 2021". https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/om-socialstyrelsen/pressrum/press/COVID-19-femte-vanligaste-dodsorsaken-2021
- 11 Mind. 2021. "Hur mår vi psykiskt egentligen?"
- 12 Karolinska Instutet. 26 March 2020. "The coronavirus: risk for increased suicide and self-harm in the society after the pandemic". https://ki.se/en/nasp/the-coronavirus-risk-for-increased-suicide-and-self-harm-in-the-society-after-the-pandemic
- 13 Mind. 2021. "Psykiskt välbefinnande under covid-decenniet". https://mind.se/wp-content/uploads/mind\_psykiskt-valbefinnande\_ny-5.7-.pdf
- 14 SCB. Arbetslöshet i Sverige. 8 April 2022. https://www.scb.se/hitta-statistik/sverige-i-siffror/samhallets-ekonomi/arbetsloshet-i-sverige
- OECD. 2021. State of Health in the EU: "Sweden: Country Health Profile 2021". https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/b9027e42-en.pdf?expires=1658133171&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=DFB9726476D5A2A3F2F920B3C237696E
- 16 Novus. March 2022. Viktigaste Frågan Mars 2022. https://novus.se/valjarforstaelse-arkiv/viktigaste-politiska-fragan
- 17 Sveriges Radio. 28 January 2022. "Hårda kritiken mot BUP Barn får vänta för länge på hjälp." https://sverigesradio.se/artikel/harda-kritiken-mot-bup-barn-far-vanta-for-lange-pa-hjalp
- 18 SKR 2022. "Psykiatrin i siffror- Vuxenpsykiatri 2021". https://www.uppdragpsykiskhalsa.se/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Psykiatrin\_i\_siffror\_VUP\_2020\_2.pdf
- 19 Socialstyrelsen. 2021. "Nationella riktlinjer för vård vid depression och ångestsyndrom". https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/artikelkatalog/nationella-riktlinjer/2021-4-7339.pdf
- 20 Statistikdatabas om läkemedel. 2021, riket, hela befolkningen. 2022-07-08. https://sdb.socialstyrelsen.se/if\_lak/resultat.aspx
- 21 Institutet för vård och omsorg. 2021. "De tar inte hand om hela mig". IVO 2021-6. https://www.ivo.se/globalassets/dokument/publicerat/rapporter/rapporter-2021/dom-tar-inte-hand-om-hela-mig-210524.pdf
- 22 SKR 2022. "Kraftsamling för psykisk ohälsa". https://skr.se/skr/halsasjukvard/utvecklingavverksamhet/psykiskhalsa/kraftsamlingforpsykiskhalsa.28676.html
- 23 Statens offentliga utredningar. 2021. "God och nära vård Rätt stöd till psykisk hälsa". SOU 2021:6, p. 24 http://www.sou.gov.se/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/SOU\_2021\_6\_webb.pdf
- 24 See for instance Dahlgren and Pelling 2021, "Jämlik vård en handlingsplan". https://arenaide.se/bocker/jamlik-vard-en-handlingsplan
- 25 See https://mind.se/aktuellt/minds-politiska-forslag-for-psykiskt-valbefinnande

### References

Dahlgren, Göran and Pelling, Lisa. 2021. "Jämlik vård – en handlingsplan". Premiss förlag. https://arenaide.se/bocker/jamlik-vard-en-handlingsplan

Helliwell, John F., Layard, Richard, Sachs, Jeffrey and De Neve, Jan-Emmanuel (eds). 2021. "World Happiness Report 2021". New York: Sustainable Development Solutions Network. https://happiness-report.s3.amazonaws.com/2021/WHR+21.pdf

Institutet för vård och omsorg. 2021. "De tar inte hand om hela mig". IVO 2021-6. https://www.ivo.se/globalassets/dokument/publicerat/rapporter/rapporter-2021/dom-tar-inte-hand-om-hela-mig-210524.pdf

Ifop for Fondation Jean-Jaurès and FEPS. May 2022. "Survey: Suicide in Europe."

Karolinska Institute. "The coronavirus: risk for increased suicide and self-harm in the society after the pandemic." Accessed 29 June 2022. https://ki.se/en/nasp/the-coronavirus-risk-for-increased-suicide-and-self-harm-in-the-society-after-the-pandemic

Lundberg, Olle. 2021. "The next step towards more equity in health in Sweden: how can we close the gap in a generation?" *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1403494818765702

Mind. "Hur mår vi psykiskt – egentligen? Minds temperaturmätning över den psykiska hälsan i Sverige 2021." 2021. https://mind.se/wp-content/uploads/pdf-for-nedladdning-1.pdf

Mind. "Psykiskt välbefinnande under covid-decenniet". 2021. https://mind.se/wp-content/uploads/mind\_psykiskt-valbefinnande\_ny-5.7-.pdf

Mind. "Minds förslag för psykiskt välbefinnande". Accessed 14 July 2022. https://mind.se/aktuellt/minds-politiska-forslag-for-psykiskt-valbefinnande

Novus. "Viktigaste Frågan Mars 2022". Accessed 4 July 2022. https://novus.se/valjarforstaelse-arkiv/viktigaste-politiska-fragan

OECD. 2021. "Health at a Glance 2021: OECD Indicators". OECD Publishing, Paris: 56-57. https://doi.org/10.1787/ae3016b9-en

OECD/European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. 2021. "Sweden: Country Health Profile 2021", State of Health in the EU. OECD Publishing, Paris https://doi.org/10.1787/b9027e42-en

Socialstyrelsen. "Långvarig psykisk ohälsa en utmaning för vården." Accessed 30 June 2022. https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/om-socialstyrelsen/pressrum/press/langvarig-psykisk-ohalsa-en-utmaning-for-varden

Socialstyrelsen. "Covid-19 femte vanligaste dödsorsaken 2021." Accessed 28 June 2022. https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/om-socialstyrelsen/pressrum/press/COVID-19-femte-vanligaste-dodsorsaken-2021

Socialstyrelsen. 2021. "Nationella riktlinjer för vård vid depression och ångestsyndrom". https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/artikelkatalog/nationella-riktlinjer/2021-4-7339.pdf

Socialstyrelsen. Statistikdatabas om läkemedel. 2021, riket, hela befolkningen. 2022-07-08. https://sdb.socialstyrelsen.se/if\_lak/resultat.aspx

Statens offentliga utredningar. Sverige under pandemin. "Summary in English SOU 2022:10". SOU 2022:10: 2-3. https://coronakommissionen.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/summary\_20220225.pdf

Statens offentliga utredningar. 2021. "God och nära vård - Rätt stöd till psykisk hälsa". SOU 2021:6: 24. http://www.sou.gov.se/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/SOU\_2021\_6\_webb.pdf

Statistiska Centralbyrån. "Arbetslöshet i Sverige". Accessed 16 June 2022. https://www.scb.se/hitta-statistik/sverige-i-siffror/samhallets-ekonomi/arbetsloshet-i-sverige

Sveriges Kommuner och Regioner. 2022. "Psykiatrin i siffror- Vuxenpsykiatri 2021". https://www.uppdragpsykiskhalsa.se/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Psykiatrin\_i\_siffror\_VUP\_2020\_2.pdf

Sveriges Kommuner och Regioner. "Kraftsamling för psykisk ohälsa". Accessed 13 July 2022. https://skr.se/skr/halsasjukvard/utvecklingavverksamhet/psykiskhalsa/kraftsamlingforpsykiskhalsa.28676. html

Sveriges Radio. "Hårda kritiken mot BUP – Barn får vänta för länge på hjälp". Accessed 16 July 2022.

### About the author



### MIA LAURÉN

Mia Laurén is a writer and a communications strategist at Arenagruppen, based in Stockholm, Sweden. Arena idé, part of Arenagruppen, is a progressive, non-partisan think tank focusing on issues related to the labour market and education, economic policy, welfare and democracy.

#### **About FEPS**

The Foundation for European Progressive Studies (FEPS) is the think tank of the progressive political family at EU level. Its mission is to develop innovative research, policy advice, training and debates to inspire and inform progressive politics and policies across Europe.

FEPS works in close partnership with its 68 members and other partners, including renowned universities, scholars, policymakers and activists, forging connections among stakeholders from the world of politics, academia and civil society at local, regional, national, European and global levels.

European Political Foundation - N° 4 BE 896.230.213 | Avenue des Arts 46 1000 Brussels (Belgium)

www.feps-europe.eu | Twitter/Instagram: @FEPS\_Europe | Facebook: @FEPSEurope

Cover photo: Shutterstock

# **ALSO IN THIS SERIES**









